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TRUTH. AND RECONCILIATION COMMISSION

SECTION 29 HEARING o :

“IN CAMERA”

" CHAIRPERSON: Mr Malaba, you will be sworn in before you

testify and I will ask Dr Randera to swear you in.

May I just get an indication, was there a provisi\on for tea
or anything of the sort this afternoon? If you can just establish
that.

Can we take a ten minute adjournment for tea, so that we
can ease the exit of Mr Gampe which wants to leave and I was
saying if we could take tea now, we could take tea so that if you

/o
need to exit, we can ease it for you whilst we take tea and Mr

A

Madasa's entry maybe they would like to rearrange the seating.

womeeWe will adjourn until twenty five past:io

COMMITTEE ADJOURNS

ON RESUMPTION:

TULANI THEMBA MALABA: (sworn states)

CHAIRPERSON: The witness has been sworn in. Ms Sealey?

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, if you could - I would like to just

"start at the very beginning and if I could just ask you how did you
become involved with the Khumalo gang, what led to you
becoming a member of the Khumalo gang? If you could just give

us the background as to how you joined the gang?
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\

"MR MALABA: I resided in Katlehong, Twana Section, that is

where I was born and bred.
Because at the time I used to steal cars, I had buyers from
. - . the Thokoza area, particularly in fhe hostel. It happened that
- because) of the corporation I had with IFP people, there was no
demarcation at the time between IFP and ANC and the peréon

who used to buy my cars mostly.

During the conflicts in 1991 between ANC and IFP, just

‘be_tween the Zulu and the Xhosa's, we as the youth were not
involved, but ultimately we were involved and in my area was an

- area close to the hostel, so that when the youth became involved
in the conflict, when people were forced to get involved in the
ANC and IFP conflict, every/person had to clarify which side he
was on.

wowie Lo wasin-Thokoza and on - that:day, there was- a lot: of

fighting. It was on a Sunday, I don't remember the date. I heard

that an IFP car coming from Natal-had been stopped and its
occupants killed. I could not leave Thokoza for my home, and I
spent the evening in Thokoza.

On the following morning, there was fighting still going on
and during this time, you wouldn't be questioned of which side

you were on. If you were not known in the area, you would just

be killed.
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I was reporting to Mr Malaba, who is present. I told him
that I could no longer return home to Spruit and I was known in
the area and because of what was happening, I could not refuse to
.oblige with whatever was happening in the area.

I just, I had to do whatever was happening. After three
days and at the time I had not as yet returned horhe, I called my

house and my mother told me that I shouldn't return home,

because I was responsible for the killing of the people in the car.

I then told her that I will talk to the people in the area and
see what one can do. Mr Mafumela then told me that I‘should be
accompanied by some people from the hostel to go fetch my
'belongings from my house, because I coul\ci no longer return
home. We did this, using his kombi. On arriving at my house, I
did not alight. He and other two persons alighted. My mother

st scames outof 'the house; talked to me and he: told her that my-life

was not in danger, they would protect me.

He will just remove me from the area a\na take me to the
other side. As we were there, we were also obviously not free,
we expected that we would be attacked, because there was

~ fighting going on at the time. I then removed my belongings and
g r‘
went to stay in Mr Malaba's house.
On staying there, I was assigned tasks, that is to and steal

cars for specific purposes. I no longer worked on my own

accord. I would be actually sent to steal cars particularly vans.
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% This I would do until one instance where Khumalo had already
“ been involved in killing people. There was this person called
Mugabe, who was apparently after Khumalo. Mr Khumalo arrived
in a white E20 kombi and we knew that he didn't par\ticularly
liked people who looked like tsotsi's.

If he didn't know who you were and where you were from,
.he would actually quarrel with you. When he arrived at this
shibeen, we were in a garage and the door was closed. He and a
lot of other people, about ten of them, entered the room and he
spoke to the women of the house.

The lady went out of the house to speak to Mr Khumalo.
We were actually listening what they were talking and he said that
he is aware that she is hiding some criminals in the house, and
that he will return to burn the house the evening.
oo Towase withe small Mugabe; somebody -else- called Astro as
~well as Veli. I don't remember the others correctly. We were
also with our girlfriends. Mugabe said we should actually try to
escape, and we couldn't do so because Khumalo was out, standing
in front of the gate. As we were talking, Khumalo actually
opened a bag and from there retrieved AK47's and gave to the
people that we were with.

They seemed to be going around towards the kitchen and he
actually indicated that he was returning in the evening to burn the

house down.

|
i
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It looked like they were leaving the house, but then from
there they returned. They were coming straight to the garage, but
before he opened the door, we opened the door, we had a
revolver, a 38 revolver and Mugabe just fired a shot and we ran
from the room and this house was on the edge o\f Thokoza, so we
ran from the house in/to the Thokoza section and on doing so, we
heard a scream inside the house.

We jumped into Mzwaki's place. After a while, he informed
us that they had taken Small, the person was not actually being
-sought by Khumalo. About 100 metres from where Khumalo was
standing, or rather from where Khumalo had been, we heard a
shot and it tfanspired that he in fact was shooting at anall.

Some of our belongings were hanging in the garage. ' When

we returned in the evening to pick up our stuff, the house was

i =ralr é’fz'i'dy? burning: an{d; ‘there were paramedics-around the -house and

PR

we enqui\red from the people and they told us that Khumalo had
returned'.and he has sI'mt another person.

’ This happened before the incident that I was involved in. I
was worried because I did not know’if Khumalo knew me or not,
but he knew where my house was and informed them that
wherever he saw mé, he was going to kill me, but I was not very

worried about it, because I knew that he did not know me

personally, he knew about me, but he had not seen me personally.
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When the conflict began, I was already in Thokoza. The
person who actually got me involved in the Khumalo gang, was
Mafumela Malaba. He actually contacted Khumalo and that is
how I got involved.

From then on, I told Mafumela, Khumalo had actually come
to th;: house to fetch some bullets and I told Mafumela about the
house in Spruit that was burnt down, and I told him that we were
not on good terms with Khumalb.

I tried not to get close to him, you know, to try to monitor
if he knew me or not. The first time I talked to Khumalo was I
think Mr Mafumela had briefed him about me, that I could help
him, but I knew that Khumalo was responsible for killings and he
-was involved in destroying opponents with the help of the police.

He said to me that I should rlot return to Spruit. If I were
'"‘f’"“-i*”-“"’-.'"t'oi‘"‘retu'rn'"thevre;'myf-‘parents will be in-danger.- - He showed me the
~, people that he was working with, people like Zweli Chamane,

Peter Masego and Mzwaki Khumalo, his son. There were quite a

few, but many of them came from the hostel.

I used to see some of them around the area. I met Themba

who was Mr Khumalo's driver. I knew Themba previously but we
‘were not quite close. He would sometimes Mafumela's place to
buy liquor. I then got in touch with Themba. We were supposed

to steal two cars with him. We were ...
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“MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, can I just stop you there, because you

are racing ahead and I've just a few questions that I would like to
ask you about the beginning of your testimony, about how you
became involved in the gang.

Before yoﬁ move on to where you stole the two cars, if 1
could just go back and just clarify a few things about what you
have said now as to how you became involved.

I am just a little confused, when you first started giving

testimony, you said that you knew people in the hostel because
and in particular Mafumela because you were involved in stealing
cars. Did you know Mafumela before the incident of when you
were with Mugabe? Before what happened when you were in the
garage with Mugabe, did you know Mafumela before that
incident?

vrsesnss MR MALABA:~ Yesy 1 knew him. -

-MS SEALEY: Because I think you recall when Piers Pigou from
the Truth Commission came to see you in prison, do you recall
that? It is just that you say, when you spoke to Mr Pigou you
said that your first contact with Khumalo was when there was this
incident whc\en you were drinking with Mugabe and then Khumalo
arrived ét the house.

You relate as you did in your testimony now, how Small

was shot dead. You also then state, which you haven't stated

.now, and that is where I am confused, you say that Mr Khumalo
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= then went to your house and fired a shot into the roof, frightening
your parents, is that true?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

*MS SEALEY: And because of this incident, it is your sister
/ \

Rosalyn Tsotetsi, is that your sister, Rosalyn Tsotetsi?

)
MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

- MS SEALEY: And you stated at that time that because Khumalo

had come and frightened your parents, your sister actually

suggested to you that you go to Mafumela because she was aware
that he had some connection with Khumalo and that maybe
Mafumela could solve the problem with Khumalo for you, do you

recall that? .

MR MALABA: Yes, I remember although I don't quite remember
the sequence of evénts, but I do remember something like that.

ez M8 SEALEY: + So-it is not quite-true; you see-originally when-

you first spoke to Mr Pigou, you said that it is after this incident

that Mafumela then accepted you because he thought that you
would be a good person for him, because you stole cars, and what
-you have said earlier today is that you actually knew him before
the incident with Mugabe, is that correct?

- MR MALABA: I would just like you to clarify the question.

MS SEALEY: Did you know Mafumela before the Mugabe
incident?

MR MALABA: Yes, I did.
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MS SEALEY:! In what way, how did you know him, what was
your connection with Mafumela before Mugabe?

- MR MALABA: We were involved in the stealing of cars.

MS SEALEY: So then it is not quite true that Mafumela
~ accepted you after Mugabe's incident, because he already knew
- you, you were already together, stealing cars, is that correct?

You didn't go to Mafumela because of what happened with

Khumalo, you were already working with him from before

Mugabe's incident, is that correct?

MR MALABA: I think there is something that I don't quite get.

I knew - I cannot be sure but as I have explained, Mugabe grew
up in the township and I only knew Mafumela through my
business, that was of stealing cars.

I am certain that I knew Mugabe before I knew Mafumela.

e MR NDLOST: - Mr Tulani; when you knew Mafumela, did you
| .

also know that he was also a friend of Mr Khumalo? Before the

Mugabe incident, did you know Mafumela as a person who was
r

closed to Mbekiseni Khumalo?

MR MALABA: No, I did not know. I did not know that they

\knew each other.

MR NDLOSI: So your knowledge of him was restricted to the

"business of car stealing?

MR MALABA: I knew Mafumela as a buyer for my cars, until I

then got to know of his involvement in this incidents.
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¥ MS SEALEY: Now when you spoke to Mr Pigou, you/said that

"Mr Malaba helped you to resolve your problem with Mr Khumalo
and that you were actually taken to the Kutuza hostel and you
were beaten at the Kutuza hostel until you know, you said you
were sorry and then they allowed you to join the gang, is that

correct?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

CHAIRPERSON: Can you just for the sake of the record, clear

this thing up because the witness who is testifying is Malaba, now
"there is another mention of Malaba.

This Malaba that you are talking about, were you related in
any sort of way or are you related in any sort of way and what is
he doing?

MR MALABA: I am talking Albert Malaba. Malaba is actually

- not-my-surname but because of my-involvement; my surname had

to be changed to Malaba so that I could have my case handled in
.an easier way.

CHAIRPERSON: Now, do T understand you to be saying up

until the time that you went to stay with Malaba, you were known
as Tsotetsi?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

CHAIRPERSON: Are you still being known as Tsotetsi or have

you permanently changed yourself, your name from Tsotetsi?

MR MALABA: My surname is Tsotetsi.
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~ CHAIRPERSON: So in order to make sure that the record is not

confused, shall we talk about you as Tsotetsi and that other
Malaba as Malaba, or do we stick with Malaba because that is
who we have accepted you to be? How do you clear the record,
: ’becalxse there is going to be a very great confusion when we read
the record, but maybe when we get to this poftion, it will be
clearer. So you are Malaba Tsotetsi and the other Malaba is

Malaba.

. MR MALABA: 1 think the Commission will decide, because I am
known as Malaba in my prison record.

MS SEALEY: When you spoke to Mr Pigou and you have just

confirmed that you were taken to Kutuza hostel and you were
beaten and you were accused of being a member of the Mugabe
gang, is that true? Mr Khumalo accused you of being a member

s e ofithe Mugabe-gang;-did that happen?

MR MALABA: Will you please repeat the question?

MS SEALEY: When you were taken to Kutuza hostel, and the

Khumalo's they beat you, did they beat you because they thought
you were a member of the Mugabe gang or because of your
_association with Mugabe?

MR MALABA: I can say that they beat me without\really

knowing what they were beating for, but at the time they actually

beat me because I was associated with Mugabe.
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Y MS SEALEY: So, after this beating, is that when you returned,

you fetched your clothes from home and then you went to go and
stay with Mafumela, is that correct, with Mafumela Malaba?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

- MS SEALEY: Once you start staying at Mafumela's house, that

is when you started to become involved in the planning of various
attacks, is that correct?

"MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

MS SEALEY: Can you possibly tell the Commission what were

the kind of things that th}ﬂe Khumalo gang used to do, what were

N C the incidents, I don't mean the specific incidents that you were
involved in, but what were the general activities of the Khumalo
gang, if you could maybe give us an idea?

"MR_MALABA: What I know is what I have already explained,

~=:the-death of- Small. - Secondly the  burning down-of people's

- houses and confiscating property. They would not burn the house

befor‘e they actually confiscated furniture in the house and there
was another incident that happened in (indistinct). The death of
two people as well as the death of Happy who used to work at
Shell.

As well as the death of Lucky, there is quite a number of
incidents although I cannot put them in their correct sequence.

‘MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, I am going to try to help you with the

sequence. What I will try to do is to try to go in terms of as the
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{

~ incidents happened, in a date order, but I just first want to get
some general background from you, so I will at a later stage ask
.you about the death of Happy and the death of Lucky. What I
just want to ask you now is how did the gang work, who were the
: l‘eadérs of the gang and how were they connected, were they
connected in any way to the IFP in Thokoza?

MR MALABA: The leader of the gang, the first one was Mr

Khumalo himself. There Was Mzwaki Khumalo, Zweli Chamane

and a few others whose names I do not remember.
People like Bekhi, (indistinct) and Peter. Others resided in
“the hostel. Some were there as guards at his house.

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, could you possibly tell us which

)

people of the IFP in Thokoza were actually involved, who from .

the IFP in Thokoza had connections with the Khumalo's?

S MRMALABA:* People who were connected to-the Khumalo gang -

are Mbekiseni Khumalo, Mbekelele Khumalo, Msomi, we used to

call him Terreblance as well, that was his popular name and
Noqunu and Mzizi, the Mzizi family. These were the people who
[

were strongly involved with the Khumalo gang.

CHAIRPERSON: Was the reference to him as Terreblance

anything to do with Eugene Terreblanche or was the name already

rthere?
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MR MALABA: He was called Terreblanche because he had a

hard head, he did not understand, he therefore was equated to

Terreblanche.

e

CHAIRPERSON: You mean the Terreblanche, = Eugene

Terreblanche from the Afrikaans Weerstand Beweging?

MR MALABA: We referred to him as Terreblanche because if he

heard about something, being a problem, he did not bother himself

about ha_ving'to get it solved through discussion, he was therefore

~a Commander of the Khumalo gang and also a Commander of the
people at the hostel.

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, when y/ou refer to Msomi as

Terreblanche, are we talking about Qsca Msomi because there are-

two Msomi's in Thokoza, Jthere is Themba Msomi. who is a very

“young man and Oséa Msomi who is quite an elderly gentleman.
== Do you knows which: one-you- are referring to when you éall him

Terreblanche?

MR MALABA: I don't know the other Msomi, the one that I

know is one tall Msomi. Police céme to his place and confiscated
his photographs, he is tall with a beard. That is the one I am

talking about.

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba when meetings were held, when
meetings were held between the Khumalo's and the IFP
leadership, where were those meetings held? Was there a specific

place or where did you usually hold your meetings?

SECTION 29 HEARING , TRC/GAUTENG




104 T MALABA

MR MALABA: The situation was such that I already knew for
‘\.example if there was to be a meeting, there would be three, four
~cars at the Mzizi household, cars, the people or the owners of

which I knew, and I knew that if there was to be a meeting

! perhaps at a hostel, myself will be called and other members.

There were two ways of convening the meeting, for example
if there was a‘tas‘k’to be carried out, killing a person, only a few
people would be called, including myself. But if there was a
_meeting pertaining to an envisaged attack by the ANC, everybody

would be called and medicines would be used, and that was a

general meeting.

But if it was a meeting that had to do with ki‘lling certain

leadership, only a few people were called.

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, you talk about if it was a general

-~ ssee'meeting that sometimes- ntilesi would be-used: - When-you spoke -

"~ -to  Mr Pigou you mentioned that human parts were used in this

" “ntilesi. Do you have any knowledge yourself of seeing this
happen? Were you ever at the hostel when you saw bodies with

parts missing?

MR MALABA: Even though I did not see them when they were

"putting these body parts together, mixing it with the medicine,
but I knew I did see them taking these things out and taking them

somewhere to mix them together.
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3 MS SEALEY: If T understand you correctly Mr Malaba, you
| mean you saw them taking parts of the body out to go and mix,
y you actually saw that? You saw them taking pieces of the bodies
to go and mix them elsewhere for ntilesi, is that correc‘t?

MR MALABA: Yes, I did see such things happening three times

but they would later come back and say here is the medicine.
Sometimes we would skip over the medicine, or they would

sometimes sprinkle it or they would sometimes drink it.

I saw this thing happening three times, but I don't know
exactly who was involved in combining the concoction.

CHAIRPERSON: What body parts were these? What body parts

[
.were these?

MR MALABA: They were using private parts, male private
parts.

eneseess - MG SEALEY: - -Mr- Malaba, before we go on to the specific

~incidents, I would just like to ask you what was the Khumalo

gang's connection with the police in the area, with example with

the Thok-oza police station, with the Murder and Robbery Unit

and the police that were based at Nyoni Park, what was the
- "Khumalo gang's relationship with the police?

MR MALABA: I cannot explain the detail here, because when I

arrived there was police cooperation. The Murder and Robbery

Squad for example, I cannot refer to the Thokoza police station.
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As far as I am concerned, it did not exist because certain
things were happening. Khumalo would kill people and he would
personally go to the police station and tell them how many people
he had shot and the police would take this vehicle, go and pick up
- the corpses. The people who were in the Murder and Robbery

Squad in Benoni, were also involved. I would be given car
registration numbers for example, if I were for exami)le to go to

some place and after a person had been identified as stirring

trouble, I would be sent over to take care of him.
We would sometimes come across police, I do not want to
mention the so-called hippo's here. The Murder and Robbery
Squad was such thqt‘they furnished us with the car registration
numbers. If we had guns, on our way to or from the killing, I
. wpuld be frisked by some of these people, the police that is. I
~oezei wwould indicate to them- that I under so-and so and-they would just

oo let me go. : ,

That i.s one reason that persuaded me to believe that
Gertrude Mzizi and others were d‘irectly invoived. Every now and
then this Murder and Robbery Unit would come and make a braai
at Mzizi's place. I would also take guns from their vehicles, for
example if we were in the house, I would be instructed to go to
the boot and take out a black bag which had guns in it and these
.guns would be brought to the (indistinct) and thereafter these

guns would be taken to the hostel.
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And it is because of that that I concluded that they were
directly connected with the Murder and Robbery Unit.

-MS SEALEY: You indicated that when you were frisked by the

police, you indicated that you were working under, and you didn't
cbmplete.the sentence. What exactly did you tell the police when
‘they frisked you?

MR MALABA: Before frisking me, they would tell me to stop

and I would for example, they would draw out a gun and say I
should stop, they would ask me where I come from. I would not
_talk to them, but I would produce something and tell them that so
and so has instructed me.

For you to understand this better, please accompany me so
that I can give you phone numbers for you to talk to him directly.

And thevaould accompany me, for example if I came from
- «'Spruit-where I was-assigned to-carry out-a certain-duty, and on-
coming back for example, they would take a direction towards the
hostel, the same direction that I was taking, and on arrival at the
-hostel, T would report back and tell them what people I came
across, the police that is.

At the same time these people would be parking just
opposite the hostel gate and obviously as the Murder and Robbery
Unit was communicating with the gang from the hostel, I would
therefore conclude that they are discussing the matter, they know

what is happening.
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Y MR NDLOSI: Mr Tulani, I will take you back a little bit here,
you spoke about human parts, you did see this happening, but you
did not givé us the names of the people who were involved in

taking these body parts, can you give us the names?

MR MALABA: (No translation) I am just giving you an example,
I am not necessarily saying, it is Themba. It is difficult for me to

say who was exactly involved in taking these body parts.

I might perhaps mention three or four people, mostly people

whose parts were amputated from their bodies were such that they
were brought in a kombi, brought to the hostel. I would

sometimes be sitting around and these people would be taken out

|

of the kombi.

Some would slip off and flee, maybe two or three people

would be required in the kombi for their body parts and the two

cossisesssee would besshot-but-would not be-shot at the place where-the kombi - -

is.

There is a hole at the hostel and they would be made to
crawl through the hole and be shot on the other side of the hostel
wall where there was a railroad. These body parts would be cut
off their b(;dies. I saw Msomi twice and there is also another one
-called Umkonzibuwe that is the name that I know.

Those are the people that I saw doing this. They were not

alone, there may have been five, six or seven but people who were

SECTION 29 HEARING TRC/GAUTENG



109 T MALABA

"concentrating on carrying on this job, were the people I have just
mentioned.

MR NDLOSI: Are these the only two people that you can

J :
remember?

MR MALABA: I know some of the people, even though I don't

know their names.

CHAIRPERSON: When last did you see these people?

. MR MALABA: 1 was arrested as we are still incarcerated, but I

was released from the police station and went back to the

township in 1993 and until December the same year. I therefore

!
can say that I saw them last in December 1993.

CHAIRPERSON: George?

MR NDLOSI: After these people were killed, was there perhaps -

a grave or graves that were prepared for them or would they just

' "ff't-':*ff'f—‘-'—z-v;-:l—:ffdu‘mpathem“ at-the spot-where they were-killed? - -

-~ MR MALABA: It would be difficult for me to say whether there

\

were gra;/es preparéd for these people. They would be just left

laying on the scene of crime and thereafter you would see this

white so-called hippo, driving to the veld to pick the corpses up.
Sometimes you would pick up a very strange smell coming

from the veld, and sometimes some of them were still in a

/

condition that one could recognise them. Therefore I would not

say that they were buried.
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MR NDLOSL:  Which people came, bringing the medicine to the

hoostel, are they the same people as Umkonzibuwe and Msomi?

MR MALABA: We were residing at a hostel and it was such that

‘it has the first Madala hostel, Kutuza and (indistinct) the third
one.

The second hostel was that is Madala hostel, was controlled
by Nqunu and the other one by Terreblanche, that is Msomi, and

the third one was controlled by Umkonzibuwe. These are the

people who gave instructions as to what should be done.

These are people who knew what they were doing because
for example in a conflict situation, Terreblanche and Khumalo and
.Umkonzibuwe and Nqunu and others, people like Zweli, would
come or bring this ntilesi along and they would make us sniff

some of this and sprinkle some of the medicine on us and

ee=tiemei Sthereafter we-would-go-on-and carry out our duties as-required.--

: 3 MR NDLOSI: IfI understand you very well, you ére referring to
R
) ( the same names, Msomi and Umkonzibuwe, these are the ones

who brought the medicine along?

.MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

MR NDLOSI: Was perhaps there any medicine that was brought

along combining the human body parts?

MR MALABA: As I have explained, it would be very difficult to

say that I saw them doing it. This medicine can really sicken you
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W pecause after having inhaled the smell, it is so terrible you can
actually feel very strong and invincible after having used it. \

I was also not of the idea of drinking it, but the one that
they used for drinking is the one that was often used by people
like Khulmalo and others, and they would sprinkle another one on
us and we would inhale some of it after it was burnt.

‘MR NDLOSI: Let me take you back a little bit. You have also

referred to the fact that when a méeting was to be held, you

would know be’cause there would be cars whose owners you knew.

Who are the owners of these cars that you identified at the
.‘m‘eeting's?' o

MR MALABA: This happened several times. I knew for example

that if there was Khumalo's car, the E20, and Mbekiseni

Khumalo's grey Mercedes Benz and Obet's vehicle, a Honda, I

—=rzglsorwould-identify, I have forgotten the-surname; and you would-

“have also people like Terreblanche and I would know then that we
too would be called, there would be something happening.

‘MR NDLOSI: Would you please explain to me, you said there

would be Khumalo's vehicle and Mbekiseni's vehicle. You are
referring to Mbekelele?

MR MALABA: Those are siblings.

-MR NDLOSI: Okay, thank you.

CHAIRPERSON: Sally Mrs Seroke?
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“YMS SEROKE: When the meeting was to be held, these special

.meetings, where exactly were they held?

MR MALABA: They were held at Abraham Mzizi's place.

MS SEROKE: This Abraham Mzizi and Gertrude, did they attend"

the meetings that were held at the hostel?

MR MALABA: Yes, they did, even though they did not regularly

attend the meeting§ at the hostel.

The one serious meeting that used to‘ happen was a meeting
where the killing of people was planned. Gertrude Mzizi would
.partaké of meetingé where decisions were made to gather funds
" “for whatever reason.

CHAIRPERSON: Ms Sealey?

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, if we can just - you were earlier

" testifying about the relationship between the Khumalo gang and

“the-police: " When you were consulted-in regard—-to- this- matter, -

~when Mr Pigou came to see you. at Zonderwater, you make

mention that you actually witnessed members of the Benoni

l

Murder and Robbery Unit at Mafumela's house. Do you remember -

that occasion and what happened when the Benoni Murder and

\

Robbery Unit came to Mafumela's house?

MR MALABA: Police came at Mafumela's house several times,

even though I cannot remember very well. I cannot say exactly

what they came there for, but they really frequented the place.
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MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, I am particularly referring you to any
fi.rearms that they may have delivered. When you spoke to Mr
Pigou, you specifically mentioned that you remembered an
occasion when they brought three pistols and three machine guns

-and that they also delivered a gun which you say it was\so big

that you couldn't carry it, do you remember that?

MR MALABA: That did not happen at Mafumela's house, but it

happened at Mafumela's room at the hostel, at A4. That is where

it happened.
" They also frequented the place where they used to braai
meat at the hostel, not at his residence, that is his family

residence.

'MS SEALEY: Do you know the names of any of these policemen

that used to deliver the weapons?

N l'"“‘“‘“‘" MR: MALABA: - I-don't remember—-the-names--—There- were- -

- registration, car registration numbers that I had that those are the

ones that I was using at the time, so I cannot remember the
names, but I know them, I can identify them.

MS SEALEY: You also mentioned that on three separate

occasions you witnessed Mr Themba Khoza bringing weapons into
Thokoza. Would you be able to tell us, can you elaborate on
that?

MR MALABA: Mr Khoza used to bring guns to Thokoza,

AK47's and many other sorts of guns that I did not understand.
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But he would go to Mr Abraham Mzizi's place, park his car.
My life was such that I was always close to these people at the
time, and if they wanted something for example, Mzizi's house
and the hostel gate are opposite each other, they would call for
me at the time when Themba Khoza's car was parking at the gate,
I would open the boot and take out the luggage and after Themba
Khoza has left, T would take the guns to’the hostels. This I did
"three times.

CHAIRPERSON: Can I just ask, on the occasions that Themba

Khoza would be bringing these weapons, was he to your
knowledge, alway;s in-the company of white policemen or on some
of the occasions he was, or on none of the occasions were there
white policemen when he delivered his weapons, to your

knowledge?

et MIREMATEAB A+~ F would- not-say-whether-th eyF were-police- or-not; -

-

~because-Themba Khoza was using -a Corolla and often. times he
would be accompanied or followed by two whites with one black
person, driving a four wheel drive.

Therefore he would not dare go to Thokoza without
company, he was never alone at any given time.
MS SOOKA: I just want to make sure that we are.recording this
properly, you say that at least on three occasions you, yourself

_witnessed this handing over of guns to the Mzizi's?
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MR MALABA: Yes, I am very sure about that because I am the

one who took the guns from the car boot into the house, and from

N

_the house, into the hostel.

MS SOOKA: You also mention that there were other kinds of
guns, which you really didn't know about and was strange to you.
N Can you tell us a little more about that please? What kind of
size are we talking about, small guns, hand guns, rocket

launchers?

MR MALABA: Sorts of guns that I was seeing for the first time,
|

were big such that they were pushed, you could not carry them.

"You would pour the bullets into some place, something that
~looked like a stove chimney.
You could not lift it, you had to use your feet to pull the

trigger.

st CHAIRPERSON: - Do-you know-what a rocket-launcher-is?—

- MR MALABA:  No,Idon't.

CHAIRPERSON: I see. Do you know a Bozooker?

MR MALABA: The one that I know, even though I am not sure

it is the same Bozooker you are talking about, it shoots only
once. It doesn't release a bullet, but a bomb.

CHAIRPERSON: Were there no Bazookas among the weapons

that you off loaded and delivered to the Mzizi's?

' SECTION 29 HEARING TRC/GAUTENG



116 T MALABA

MR MALABA: I was used to Bazookas, I would not mention

e

them, it was different from the one big gun that I am talking

about.

CHAIRPERSON: Yes, I understand that, but were Bazookas not
among those? I will tell you why I am asking, a previoﬁs witness
.has told us here that people were pressured out of their
residences by their houses being burnt and their houses being
subjected torhaving bombarded of hand grenades, and I was just
wondering whether Bazookas was also not used in that process
aﬁd you could assist us if you saw among the weapons that you
delivered weapons like Bazookas and RPG rifles. RPG rifles are
the ones that shoot hand grenades.

MR MALABA: Thank you very much. I was used to Bazookas,

"that is why I am not concentrating on them. These were used for

““burnifig-down-people's-houses: — — e
- r’

“MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, apart from the guns that was supplied

by the police, did the Khumalo gang use any other methods to get
firearms?

MR MALABA: Mr Khumalo used to get some of the guns.

They would perhaps go to the Vosloorus hostel, collecting 20 or
30 AK's and ammunition and these would be used.

People that used to supply Thokoza with guns were the
hostel in Vosloorus and Themba Ktha and also (indistinct)

hostel used to provide us with firearms.
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{é;»MS SEALEY: Did you ever hear Themba Khoza say where those
guns that he supplied to the Mzizi's was coming from, did /he say
that it was supplied by the police or the milit‘ary because I am
sure you must have heard when they were talking.

MR MALABA: I did not speak to Themba Khoza myself,

personally. I would see them moving from one room to the
kitchen for example, but I did not talk to him.

MS SEALEY: So you don't know where those guns were coming

R
HS
N

| -from?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, Mr Zimo told us earlier that Mr
Khumalo had a home made bullet machine, are you aware of that
that he had a machine that used to make bullets?

MR MALABA: Yes, I also know the machine itself.

oo memeee s MS-SEALEY: - This-machine, what kind. of bvu_lly_e.'_cs did it make,

=oooooodidoit- make bullets for all types of guns or for a specific type of

weapon?

MR MALABA: The machine was such that it manufactured

bullets for all sorts of guns and they would manufacture an
ordinary bullet and also a particular bullet that seemed to have a
needle in front, which he would call a hollow point. He used to
use this bullet Iﬁost of the time.

MS SEROKE: Wo‘uld he use this bullet for any kind of gun, or

was there a special gun that used to take this bull?ts?
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““MR MALABA: When he made these bullets, if say for example I
had a 9 mm pistol, there would be bullets for that and some for an
AK and others for various other guns.

_MS SEROKE: Would he make these bullets for all sorts of

weapons?

/
MR MALABA: Yes, that is true.

MR NDLOSI: Mr Tulani, you mention that there would be a time

when you would go to Vosloorus to fetch guns. From whom did
you get these guns?

MR MALABA: I am not sure who these guns were obtained

from. Even though I did not know this, but I would be driving
'thé ‘vehicle that would fetch these guns. That is how I was
involved. Even we went to (indistinct) this is how I would be
involved.
= But-I was not involved-in the neggtiations.,or,,,th,e,”striking, of
-the deal.

MR NDLOSI: Do you still remember the specifics of the blocks

that you actually visited in the hostel?

MR MALABA: No, I do not. I cannot say which blocks we

actually went to.

MR NDLOSI: This machine that used to make bullets, do you

.have any idea where Mr Khumalo obtained it from?

MR MALABA: No, I do not because when I/ knew him, he

already had this machine.
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CHAIRPERSON: Can I ask in connection therewith, was it

known that Mr Khumalo, what is known to the police you could
say, that he had all these things at his place? I would also ask the
same question about do you consider that it was known that the
Mzizi's had these weapons by the police and that nothing,
nonetheless was happening to them?

.MR MALABA: I would say that even if they knew or even if

they didn't know, the way they frequented the area, these houses,

(

one would assume that they knew about this weapons.
I don't think they would not know that there was such a

- machine or so many guns in the house.

CHAIRPERSON: Yes, George?

MR NDLOSI: Mr Tulani, were you ever involved in violence in

other areas?

- MR-MALABA -~ What sort of violence are.you referring-to?

MR NDLOSI:  We have a report that when you actually talked to

Piers, you conducted certain operations in Alexandra, George
Goch and Sebokeng. What sort of operations were these?

MR MALABA: 1 once weﬁt to Alexandra, it was in 1993 if I am

not mistaken. There was fighting in Alexandra. We went there in
a kombi to assist those people who were fighting.
We were helping by supplying guns, like in Sebokeng, there
. is a hostel, a Madala hostel in Sebokeng. We went there when

there was fighting, we just dropped two Bazookas and AK47's.
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““MR NDLOSI: When you say we, we went, who was it?
-

MR MALABA: It was myself, Umkonzibuwe and somebody else

called Nqunu as well as Mkauleni. I don't quite remember the

names of the others who were present.

MR NDLOSI: Who actually sent you there, who told you to go

to these places?

MR MALABA: Mkauleni was the person who came to me and

said I was required and when I got there, I found Umkonzibuwe,

Msomi and Nqunu who explained to me where we were going.

. When I enquired about what was h\appening, I was told that
we were just going to investigate about what was going on in
those areas. We are\goingvto assist them by giving them these

weapons.

MR NDLOSI: IfT heard you correctly you mentioned Sebokeng

emmemssesande Al exandraswhere-your left-guns:= You-did-not-actually partake -

in-the conflict? -

MR MALABA: I will put it in this way, we did not partake in

"the conflict in Sebokeng, but in Alexandra, some people actually
left and went to partake in the fighting. One got injured.’

One of the people we picked up from Alexandra I think is in
prison. I think maybe two or three people from our group
actually went with this person from Alexandra and partook in the

fighting.
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“YMR NDLOSI: Perhaps you remember that maybe there were

others who were involved in the conflict in Alexandra whose
names you haven't mentioned.

MR MALABA: Let me put it this way, these people had other

names, war names that I cannot quite remember. You cannot
remember that name easily.

. It was those kinds of nicknames.

MR NDLOSI: The person who you mention who is in prison, do

you remember his name?

MR MALABA: His name is Vusiso, I forget his surname.

MR NDLOSI: Perhaps you could remember the date of that

incident?

-MR MALABA: No, I don't remember.

MS SOOKA: The year perhaps? Do you remember the year?

)
s IR MALABA T T think it was between 199T-and*1992: T had not- = = s e

o been arrested ‘at that time, so it is surely between those two

years.

MS FSOOKA: Also do you remember the time in that year, was it
in the beginning of the year, the middle of the year, at the end of
the year?

MR MALABA: It was around September, October.

~ MR NDLOSI: What were you doing in the George Goch

operation?
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MR MALABA: We went to George Goch twice. On the first
occasion we Went there to fetch AK47'sﬁ On the second occasion
we went there, we were‘told that we were going to assisvt some
people had been injured in a train station, and people were
intimidated by the ANC.

We went there in a kombi, we arrived there at around six in
the evening and vive stayed there until the following morning, but

nothing happened during that time.

MS SEROKE: Was that were you (indistinct) in a hostel?

|

MR MALABA: We went into George Goch and we were made to

wait inside. A car would sometimes leave the place and return,

patrolling, monitoring the area whilst we were in the hostel.

MR NDLOSI: Earlier on you said you went to George Goch to

pick up guns. On such occasions, who would you get the guns

- Fro i and wihor had ordered that?: = s i e

oo sMR:MALABA: - The person who had connections in George Goch

was Umkonzibuwe and Terreblanche. I am not sure if they were
personally involved in the negotiations, or-if they were giving
instructions.

CHAIRPERSON: I would like to indicate that we would be

sitting as far as five o'clock and we have got about ten minutes,
but I don't want to rush you. If you think that you won't be

finished with this particular witness, then we have to call the

-
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|

““witness back in the morning, then you should just pace

yourselves.

It has been a fairly long day, I must say.

MR‘NDLOSI: I think Mr Chairperson, we will just deal with the

George Goch issue and then maybe we can call Mr Tulani to
appear first thing in the morning.

CHAIRPERSON: 'Mr Malaba you mean?

MR NDLOSI: Mr Malaba, yes.

CHAIRPERSON: We don't want to give him a third surname.

MR NDLOSTI: Sorry Mr Chairperson. Mr Malaba, you

.mentioned that the person who had contacts were Umkonzibuwe

and Msomi. You also explained that you would go there as a
group in kombi's. As far as I know if a unit goes out, there

would be a Commander?

~MR:NDLOSI: = This person will be responsible for that unit and

will give report backs on how the operation went. Who actually

ordered you and who was the Commander and who actually

‘received you at George Goch?

MR MALABA: The person we were always with in most

instances, was Terreblanche and on arrival he would maybe take

us, ‘on arrival we would be known about our business and then he
would disappear, presumably to talk with the leadership of that

hostel.
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And then they would later emerge as a group, talking. Then
they would come to us, greet us and then we would wait until
whatever time. Maybe they would all come to us as a group and
tell us wl;at the situation was like, but their specific names I do
not have knowledge of because I did not speak to them
personally. |

MR NDLOSI: Was Mr Khumalo's gang also involved in those

operations?

MR MALABA: Mr Khumalo had a gang of older persons and

/
another one for the youth. I will say that Mbekelele was a

member of that gang and he was also his brother. Mzwaki
Khumalo was his son and Mbekelele is his father's youngest
brother.

. They would also be people from the hostel, people like

= Umikonzibuwerand= Terreblanches= - The-only problem-that-F-havesiss e

with-the names: I can identify them, but I just do not remember

their names.

What I can explain is that between these two groups, the
older group and the youth, I started by being close to Zweli
Chamane and others, not really knowing what their involvement
was.

I eventually was quite distant from them. I ended up being
the one that was picking them up, giving them information. For

instance I would have to check the guns if we had enough guns, if
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“ we had retrieved guns from our operations, I ended up being too

“close to Mr Khumalo himself and people like Terreblanche.

MR NDLOSI: Does that mean that they were also involved in

the George Goch operation?

" MR MALABA: Yes, sometimés they would personally go. For

N

instance if Khumalo went as well as Terreblanche and maybe with

a small group from the hostel. There were people who resided at

the hostel and also had a shack or a house in the township but

who spent most of their time in the hostel.

Even though they had houses in the township, they spent
most of their time in the hostel. He would maybe leave the hostel
if maybe his girlfriend was around, but in most instances they
spent their time in the hostel.

MR NDLOSI: Thank you Chairperson.

minutes more or do you think that you would, if there is an aspect

-you think you can do within the next five minutes, maybe you go

on to do it?

MR NDLOSI: You mentioned that you became close to people

like (indistinct), Terreblanche, does that mean that when you

went to talk to people like Zweli, does that imply that you now
had a certain position?

MR MALABA: As I have explained before, I was arrested

together with Themba and others and somehow I was fetched
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~* from prison and released. When I was released, I was no longer

working closely with people like Mzwaki. The youths, the people

I interacted with mostly, were people like Khumalo, as well as

" Terreblanche.

MR NDLOSI: Does this mean that you obtained a position

because you had been in prison and because that you had
sufficient knowledge about what was happening within the
Khumalo gang and-the IFP?

MR MALABA: What I saw or what I think motivated them to

‘bring me close to them, was that a lot of people wanted
information about Spruit, about how they could attack Spruit and
I had knowlerdge about the area.

The person who could actually assist them, was somebody

like me. At the same time, if they gave me weapons or

ey A’:.‘-‘L—"Lt;«»_- lnstﬁﬁ;fé—”nvsﬁt—offaj(e—* :a:gmup%to& a=cert avifn:;—a rea= ,'I =W Ul d- :I‘{O.t’: ety Sre' TN

~ I would go or maybe drive.

And on arrival at our destination, somebody else would
actually sit at the/\steering wheel and I would go with the people

who were supposed to carry out an operation.

‘MR NDLOSI: As you had explained about the George Goch
incident, you were sent there to assist people there. Were you

ever involved in the train violence incidents?

MR MALABA: No, I have no knowledge about that.

"MR NDLOSI: Thank you Chairperson.
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: MS SOOKA: You used the word operations, can you explain

that, what sort of operations?

MR MALABA: When I say operations, as I had explained that

on attacking an area for the people or the people in authority to
prove that you had actually carried out the task, you should
actually bring some form of evidence like weapons or maybe they
should hear from other people that the task had actually been
carried out.

When you brought these weapons it would actually indicate

. that you had indeed carried out the task.

CHAIRPERSON: Are there any other members of the Panel who
would like to put any further questions? Ms Seroke? |

MS SOOKA: When}you completed these operations, were you

ever paid anything for the role you had played in these

== .Op‘ﬁc”" e

p ,
- what sort of remuneration did you receive for the role you played

in all of these activities?

MR MALABA: I did not receive remuneration. I was promised

that I would become rich one day, but this never materialised, in
/
stead, I was arrested and incarcerated.

They have not really done anything for me, accept to bribe

me not to appear before the TRC.

"CHAIRPERSON: Was it ever clear to you during that time and

even now maybe, that all of these was violence perpetrated by and
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%/ in the name of the IFP and if so, what reasons do you think you
can adduce for saying that it was violence perpetrated in the name

“of the IFP?

MR MALABA: I would explain it this way. It was IFP people
who actually carried out these activities.
\ .
I usually see Mzizi on TV and he represents the IFP.

Khumalo himself is known nationally. All dignitaries from the

IFP attended the funeral, everything that happened, even if it was

referred to as the Khumalo gang, he was actually fighting against
the ANC, they were out to wipe out ANC members.

- CHAIRPERSON: Now just a follow up. When you testified

earlier on, in fact almost at the beginning, you seemed to suggest

that this started off as violence between the Zulu's and the

Xhosa's then it took a political dimension.

ﬁm%w_asigﬁgﬁgh@¥g;&&e§g&;@q 711]1‘1“ speaking was ]ater

then assumed to be IFP and everyone who was Xhosa speaking

was assumed to be ANC, or did it not really matter now at a
_certain stage whether you were Xhosa speaking, you were ANC if
yo;J lived in the towﬁship and you were IFP if yo\u lived in the
hostels?

MR MALABA: I would explain it this way. When the conflict

started between the Zulu's and the Xhosa's it was not political,

but when the youth from the township started getting involved, if
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you were a Zulu living in the Spruit location, you would actually
be killed, if you were not aware of this.

And if you were not killed, you would actually/ have to call
the police to escort you to the hostel, so that the area in the
surroun'dings/ of the hostel was assumed to be an IFP area.

If the people living in this area, they will be destroyed

unless they could actually ask the police to actually escort them

out of the area.

There was a straight dividing the ANC and the IFP areas.

Demarcations lines were known about which area it was.
)

, CHAIRPERSON:I Was it from that sort of situation that this

concept of no-go areas developed, a certain area would be a no-

\

go area for ANC people and a certain area would be a no-go area

- for IFP people?

======MR=MAEABA—=Ye! ;;tk&ﬁ-r%hﬁwiliweulad;&xpmmari—;Be%use

after this conflict started, perhaps there was a house on the

corner, there would be signs written indiéating whether the area
was ANC or IFP.

There actually would be no houses between the two sides,
in betvs}een the edges. Even if there was no fighting, and maybe
.you just went to the toilet, you would actually be shot at. People
were always on the look out, monitoring these demarcation lines,

these boundaries.
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Maybe on some evenings, a bomb will actually be thrown at
the areas. There was always war. Such that taxi's towards the
Vergenoeg area would not pass through Thokoza which was an
IFP\area, they had in stead used the Phola Park area which was
known to be an ANC area.

Taxi's that operated in‘ Thokoza, were used by [FP members
and they had their rank at the hostel. In town, if you actually
made a sign, they/ would’know which 'sign went to an ANC or

“which sign indicated an IFP area.

CHAIRPERSON: Let the record show that the witness has

indicated that if you point your finger towards the sky, that it
indicated IFP and if you indicated with a waving movement of the
hand, as if you are indicating waves, you are indicating you want

to go to an ANC area.

e Pr-Randera?

- DR _RANDERA: Mr Malaba, let me try one more time at trying
to understand motivation here. We start off with you telling us
that you joined the gang because of fear.

\ 'Bgcause you are part of the Mugabe gang, the Archbishop
Khumalo is lookihg for Mugabe for one reason or another, you
start, that is how you get into this gang yourself. \This is 1991,
not that long ago - you are then involved in all sorts of things,
you know, from hijacking to stealing to almost 20 murders that

-you have actually admitted to yourself.
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You are also involved in taking arms into other areas where
of course people get killed as well. Now earlier on you said to
Ms Sooka that you thought that one day y‘ou would become rich,
‘that may hgve vbeen one motivation, but let's try and understand
what was your motivation in those two or three years that you
were involved in this gang, or maybe four years.

Was it because you were so intimately and integrally

involved in the IFP structures, was it a belief in their ideas, what
)

was it that has landed you in the position that you are in today,
because if we don't understand that in a sense, it makes it very
difficult for us to make a recommendation for the future as well,
/.because I think that is what I am trying to understand and grapple

as I sit here, opposite you.

What was it that actually motivated you at the end, because

=see——=Was=it=ctiminal-at=the—

- end-of-the-day?

MR MALABA: 1 got involved with this people because of the

circumstances in which myself and my family found ourselves. 1
_did many things, but I got involved in this thing because I was
under pressure. [ did not have a choice. Mr Khumalo used to
involve the parents most of the time.

My sister Nonqubelo died, killed by the people from Spruit,
because they said I had now joined the IFP. They killed her

because they wanted to attract me or force me to attend the
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funeral which the)y thought I would attend and Mr Malaba then
told me that I should rush, there was something that had
héppened at my home.
This happened on Sunday and on Monday I went to hospital
where my sister was laying, after being hacked and burnt. I
therefore realised that it was a problem because she started crying
*when I was talk‘ing to her.

)

The person who was in my company, could actually pick up

/

the explanation from my companion, who‘ said that my family was
now going to be wiped out, and therefore I should remain with
the people and I went to the suburbs where I stayed at the back
rooms and others went to Sebokeng.

On bur};ing' her, my mother did not spend" for funeral

expenses and they indicated that they were taking the

———responsibility=of-meeting=the-funeral-costs;=apologising-that-they

- made-a mistake... That is when it transpired that I should go,

people certain people, were to go and undergo some training in
~the use of firearms, because the IFP wanted people who would
guard the area.

MS SOOKA: When you joined in a sense, did the‘y pay for your

food, did they give you clothes and where exactly did you stay, is
_that the form of looking after you that they actually did?

MR MALABA: I would not say that they were paying me or not

because things were such that they did not pay me, but they
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, would give me what things I requested like food. I ended up
_residing at the hostel, I was now so much involved in their
matters and such that even though they did not give me food,
there was nowhere else to go because I had no ‘way out.

I could not just leave. They did not pay me, be it weekly or

monthly, they did not even buy me clothes.

CHAIRPERSON: I think we should adjourn and I must say to

you Mr Tsotetsi that this Panel as Dr Randera said, wants to

know exactly the sort of things that are now coming through, not
“only through what you are saying, but through what };ou appear to
us to be going through by way of emotion.

I can well imagine the day on which this/war erupted and
you happened at that particular time, to be in an area that had

beco'me\designated as IFP and because the war started and it was

became condemned to.

We will continue with this enquiry tomorrow morning. We
will adjourn until nine o'clock. I take it Mr Madasa, you are
available?

MR MADASA: That is correct Mr Chairman.

CHAIRPERSON: We will adjourn until nine o'clock tomorrow

morning.

COMMITTEE ADJOURNS
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“YON RESUMPTION: 28TH MAY 1998

.CHAIRPERSON: This is a resumption of the evidence of/ Mr
Malaba Tsoatetsi.

Mr Malaba you are reminded that you are still under oath
and Ms Sealey and George will continue with the putting of

questions to you.

TULANI TSOATETSI MALABA: (s.u.o.

CHAIRPERSON: Ms Sealey?

MS SEALEY: Mr Malaba, your attorney has a copy of the

-~

‘various lists of incidents that I'd like to ask you about and they
basically go in date order. If I mention the incident, if you could
possibly confirm whether you have any information on the
particular incident and then elaborate what your particular role

\was in the incident. The first case I'd like to ask you about,

sthe==TFruth==Commission=has=received—a=—human=rights==violation-= ==

\

. statement from- the mother: of Dixon\Nkosi, who- claims that on
September the 5th 1991 a group of men who were allegedly
members of the Khumalo gang, abducted her son Dixon Nkosi and
they then took him to a school where he was later shot and
beaten. Do yoﬁ have any knowledge of that particular incident?

MR MALABA: Let me explain it as follows: The incident you

are referring to yes, is something that I know about but I was not
‘there when it happened, I was not part of the group that did this

thing.
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MS SEALEY: Thank you. The next incident, if you could
perhaps explain your role in is the assassination of Mr Sam Ntuli.
We've already heard from Mr Zimo that there was a meeting and
perhaps you can just explain to us where the meeting took place,

-where the plan was to assassinate Mr Ntuli and who was present.

MR MALABA: With reference to the Sam Ntuli incident, yes I

was one of the people that was supposed to carry out the mission.
My duty was supposed to be to go out and steal two cars, myself
with Themba Zimo.

The day that was set aside for us to steal the cars was such
that we were not able to conduct the mission. I think we went to
town in Johannesburg, came back the following day and they were

"hoping that we would bring cars along but we did not. And the

...[intervention]

- think-it's better if you explain - because when you start talking
about stealing cars, it doesn't really - I actually asked you who
attended the planning meeting. If you can maybe start at the
beginning as to who was at the meeting where it was decided that
Mr Ntuli should be assassinated.

MR MALABA: People who were plotting the assassination, I

would say the meeting was held at Abraham Mzizi's home and

Abraham Mzizi was present as well as Gert Mzizi and Albert
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Malaba was present ét well, Obet Gadebe, Msomi also known as
Terreblanche, he too was present. Yes, Mr was also present.
Zweli Tjamai, but I would not involve him with the group
that was forming or plotting the assassination, he was mostly on
_our part. These are the people who were plotting and who would
later on call us.

MS SEALEY: And what was decided at that meeting, what did

you discuss? Did you discuss the way you were going to kill Mr

Ntuli? What was discussed at the meeting?

MR MALABA: \What they did - what we learnt was that on a
Sunday we should go and‘ste_al two vehicles so that by sunset Sam
Ntuli must ha;/e been killed. And they explained to us, I was also
"present when it was discuséed, that Mr Ntuli should be killed.
\And they said they will come up with means to make sure that he
- === how-to get-hold of him.

MS SEALEY: Was it immediately after this meeting that you and

Mr Zimo went to steal two cars?

MR MALABA: Yes, that is correct.

MS SEALEY: Can you explain where you stole the cars and

what the purpose was for stealing those cars?

MR MALABA: We stole the cars in Alberton. These were the

vehicles that were to be used in the murdering'of Sam Ntuli.
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Y'MS SEALEY: Apart from stealing the cars, what was - did you

have any other role in the assassination of Mr Ntuli?

MR MALABA: IfI still remember very well, after the cars were

stolen, there are two guns that were brought to me and I gave
S

.them to the people who were supposed to carry out the killing.

MS SEALEY: Who gave you these two guns and what type of
guns were they?

MR MALABA: If I still remember very well, they were two

pistols. I cannot remember very well but I still remember
handling the pistols. I'm not sure whether they were rifles or
what. These are guns that were given to me by - I cannot
remember exactly who gave me the guns. He gave the guns so
“that I can give them to someone who was in a van.

MS SEALEY: Do you remember who you gave the guns to?

=“MREMAEABA:

‘Evensthough=IFcannot-remember=very:wel=theres=sosmnn

-~ were-people who were sit'tin'g»' at the back of the van but I cannot

remember exactly to whom I directly gave the firearms or the
guns.

MS SEALEY: Was this on the day that Sam Ntuli was

assassinated?

MR MALABA: When guns and the vehicles were made available

yes, Sam Ntuli died on that particular day.
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